No. 117,508

---

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

---

JOSEPH SHEPACK,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

KANSAS DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT KANSAS  
DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE**

---

Appeal from the District Court of Shawnee County  
Honorable Teresa Watson, District Court Judge  
District Court Case No. 15 C 121

---

Respectfully submitted:

/s/ J. Brian Cox  
J. Brian Cox, # 11089  
Deputy General Counsel  
Legal Services Bureau  
Kansas Department of Revenue  
Docking State Office Building  
915 SW Harrison  
Topeka, Kansas 66612-1588  
(785) 296-2381  
brian.cox@ks.gov

Attorney for Kansas Department of Revenue

## I. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a driver's license suspension case under the Implied Consent law, K.S.A. 8-1001 *et seq.*, K.S.A. 8-259, and the Kansas Judicial Review Act, K.S.A. 77-601 *et seq.* Plaintiff (hereinafter "Shepack") was arrested for DUI on September 20, 2014, by Kansas Highway Patrol Trooper S.M. Taylor. Shepack refused to submit to a requested breath test, and KDR ordered the suspension/restriction of his driver's license following administrative hearing, pursuant to law.

Following the trial of the matter on January 27, 2017, the Court determined that the Trooper arrested Shepack without reasonable grounds, by its Memorandum Decision and Order of February 1, 2017 (copy attached hereto as Exhibit A). Other issues raised by Shepack below were not resolved by the district court and are not in issue in this appeal. KDR's motion to alter or amend the court's decision was denied. KDR timely appealed; there has been no cross appeal by Shepack.

## II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

KDR raises the following issues in this appeal:

- I. the district court erred in determining that the Trooper needed to have reasonable grounds to believe that Shepack was operating a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or drugs *at the point at which he was cuffed*;
- II. the district court erred in determining that the Trooper arrested Shepack *for DUI* at the point that he was cuffed;
- III. the district court erred in determining that the Trooper lacked reasonable grounds to arrest Shepack for DUI and/or to request that he submit to testing *at the point at which he was cuffed*

- IV. the district court erred in failing to determine that the Trooper had reasonable grounds to arrest Shepack and/or to request that he submit to testing after Shepack refused the PBT and the field sobriety tests

### III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts are these (including those found by the district court in its Memorandum Decision and Order, and other facts shown by the record with respect to the issue of the Trooper's reasonable grounds (facts relevant to other issues not part of this appeal are not included)):

The arresting officer in this case, Master Trooper Shawn Taylor, has been with the Kansas Highway Patrol for thirteen (13) years, ten (10) years of which were involved with traffic enforcement; he is familiar with the Kansas Turnpike's layout, its mileposts, and its exits; his duty is to patrol the Turnpike; and he has been involved with 50-60 DUI investigations. R 2 at 31, 34, 173-74.

Trooper Taylor was on duty on September 20, 2014. At 8:18 p.m. Trooper Taylor received information from dispatch that a white 2012 Toyota Tacoma with Kansas tag 920 DOK was driving erratically on Interstate 335 near milepost 173 southbound. Dispatch later indicated that the vehicle had exited at milepost 147. Trooper Taylor did not see the described vehicle in the area. R 1 at 181, ¶ 1.

That dispatch – from a private citizen – reported more fully that the vehicle (Shepack's) almost struck the reporting party's vehicle, almost struck a guardrail, was all over the road, was varying its speed from 45 to 80 mph, and included the reporting party's opinion that he was witnessing a possible drunk driver (*i.e.* Shepack). R 2 at 28,

34, 36-37, 40; R 3 at 6, page 1 (KDR trial Exhibit B, admitted R 2 at 95-97) (Trooper's arrest report).

KDR trial exhibit A is the Voluntary Witness Statement by Austin Kennedy – the private citizen report from KHP dispatch – which states as follows:

At approximately 20:15 I was traveling south on the turnpike when a white Toyota pickup cut me off. Nearly striking my vehicle. After following for a few miles I decided he was possibly drunk, called KTA and advised my location. I continued following, his driving continued to be erratic. Cross the center line, cross over to the shoulder, and varying speed from 45-80 approximately. I followed until the vehicle exited at Council [sic] Grove. I continued onto my destination and advised dispatch that he had exited.

R 2 at 44-45; R 3 at 6 (KDR trial Exhibit A)

At 9:17 p.m. Trooper Taylor stopped an unrelated car for speeding at milepost 168 northbound. His emergency lights were activated. While speaking to the driver of the unrelated vehicle on the shoulder of the highway, Trooper Taylor saw a white 2012 Toyota Tacoma pickup drive by. The truck did not move away into the far lane, but rather moved over to straddle the dotted line between the two northbound lanes as he passed the Trooper. Trooper Taylor returned to his vehicle to catch up to the white truck. R 1 at 181-82, ¶ 2.

Kansas law, the “Move Over” law, requires drivers, if able, to move completely into the left hand lane. R 2 at 55. Shepack did not do so as he did not completely change lanes, rather, straddled it as he went by. R 2 at 56-57.

The Trooper opined that, based on his experience and training, there are higher numbers of impaired drivers out at night as opposed to day. R 2 at 48; *see also* R 2 at 135. Shepack, an experienced prosecutor, agreed. R 2 at 121:10-13, 135.

Trooper Taylor spotted the white truck at milepost 173 northbound. He followed the truck for three to four miles. He confirmed that the truck bore Kansas tag 920 DOK. He used radar to confirm that the truck was traveling below the 75 mile per hour speed limit. Trooper Taylor testified that he did not remember the exact speed. R 1 at 182, ¶ 3.

Shepack's speed while the Trooper was behind him was slower than the posted limit; driving considerably faster or slower than the posted limit can be a potential indicator of DUI. R 2 at 58-59.

Trooper Taylor activated a camera inside his patrol car. A DVD recording of the encounter was shown at trial and admitted into evidence. R 1 at 182, ¶ 4; R 3.

While following the truck, Trooper Taylor observed the vehicle drift left over the dotted line between the two northbound lanes. On two of these occasions the truck remained on the dotted line for 30 seconds or more. Shepack admitted at trial that the DVD showed he was drifting. R 1 at 182, ¶ 5. The Trooper testified that Shepack straddled the center line six (6) times. R 2 at 60-61. Shepack testified at trial that he was weaving and that the stop was legitimate. R 1 at 108.

Trooper Taylor activated his emergency lights one-half mile south of milepost 177, the South Topeka exit. The white truck did not stop until it was in front of the South Topeka exit ramp. Trooper Taylor testified, and the DVD shows, that the white truck did not stop immediately when his emergency lights were activated. The DVD shows that the

truck continued driving for approximately thirty (30) seconds after the Trooper's lights were activated before stopping. R 1 at 182, ¶ 6. Slowness in pulling over in reaction to emergency lights is a potential indicator of DUI. R 2 at 65.

Trooper Taylor testified that there was nothing improper about the way Shepack was parked on the shoulder after the stop. R 1 at 183, ¶ 11. However, the location where Shepack eventually stopped was close to the turnpike exit, an unsafe location, according to the Trooper, as other vehicles might also be attempting to exit there. R 2 at 65-66.

As he approached the truck, Trooper Taylor observed a box in the bed of the truck with six closed wine bottles, and an empty box in the cab of the truck. R 1 at 182, ¶ 7. The latter box was a “wine box.” R 2 at 77:2-4.

Trooper Taylor detected the odor of alcohol coming from the truck. Trooper Taylor observed that Shepack's eyes were bloodshot, watery, and glazed. R 1 at 182-83, ¶ 8. Shepack could not dispute the observations as to his eyes. R 2 at 142. In fact, the Trooper detected the odor of alcohol on Shepack, not just in his truck. R 2 at 75-76. Shepack did not dispute that he had such an odor. R 2 at 133.

Trooper Taylor asked Shepack if he had been drinking. Shepack said no – a misrepresentation of fact. R 1 at 183, ¶ 9; at 184, ¶ 17; R 3 at 5 (Shepack trial Exhibit 4 (DVD at 5:33)). Shepack agreed that he did not give a truthful response. R 2 at 112-13. Shepack also denied being on prescription medication. R 3 at 5 (Shepack trial Exhibit 4 (DVD at 6:05)).

Trooper Taylor asked Shepack where he was going. He said he was going to his daughter's home in Lawrence. Trooper Taylor asked Shepack where he was coming from.

Shepack said Wichita. Shepack admitted at trial that these were not accurate statements. Rather, Shepack testified that he drove from his home in Ellsworth that morning to Lawrence, and left Lawrence around 8 p.m. to drive to Wichita. Somewhere around milepost 147 southbound he noticed his tire pressure light was on. He exited to check it, then headed back north to Topeka to address the problem with his tire. R 1 at 183, ¶ 10. Shepack admitted at trial that he misstated where he was coming from. R 2 at 113.

The Trooper asked Shepack to step out, R 2 at 67:15, and Shepack dropped his toll ticket on the ground when he got out of the truck. Trooper Taylor told Shepack to pick it up and then asked to see it. Shepack said no and put it in his pocket. R 1 at 183, ¶ 11. The toll ticket which Shepack dropped as he stepped out and refused to permit the Trooper to look at was some potential evidence of Shepack's confusion about where he was going, as such would have shown the time and location of his entry onto the Turnpike, R 2 at 71-72; or the refusal could have been Shepack's consciousness that that ticket might aid the Trooper's DUI investigation, R 2 at 104:14-19.

Here, the Trooper told Shepack that he had received reports of Shepack's whereabouts and asked him where he was going, and Shepack stated that he was coming *from Wichita*. The Trooper added that he had reports of Shepack earlier *going southbound*, and therefore questioned that he was coming from Wichita. The Trooper also said he had received a report that Shepack had gotten off on exit 147. Shepack said he didn't think so. R 3 at 5 (Shepack trial Exhibit 4 (DVD at 5:35-5:53)).

The Trooper testified that Shepack exited the vehicle when asked to do so. He testified that Shepack did not have any problems with walking or standing and did not

lean on the vehicle. Trooper Taylor testified that Shepack did not have slurred speech or difficulty communicating. R 1 at 183, ¶ 11. However, the DVD shows that, at one point, Shepack stumbled and almost fell over backwards after he had been directed to the rear of his truck. R 3 at 5 (Shepack trial Exhibit 4 (DVD at 6:50)), as also noted below.

The district court stated that Trooper Taylor testified that Shepack did not fumble with his license when producing it. R 1 at 183, ¶ 21. The trial testimony was that the Trooper did not recall that Shepack had “trouble fumbling his driver’s – getting or retrieving his driver’s license,” not that there had been made any actual request with which Shepack had no difficulty. R 2 at 14:10-12. Shepack said he did not “believe” he had any difficulty retrieving his license. R 2 at 110:21-23. The video tape shows that, as of the point that the Trooper announced that Shepack was under arrest, while in the police vehicle, no such request had been made.

After the stop and after Shepack stepped out, the Trooper thought that he and Shepack were in a somewhat vulnerable, unsafe position, and given that he had effected the stop, he believed that he was responsible for Shepack’s safety. R 2 at 66-67; *see also* R 2 at 147 (Shepack agreed). Trooper Taylor asked Shepack to move to the back of the truck. Shepack put his hands in his pockets. Trooper Taylor told Shepack to take his hands out of his pockets, which he did, and move to the back of the truck. Trooper Taylor testified that Shepack just stared at him. The DVD indicates that Shepack said "what do you want me to do?" Trooper Taylor took Shepack's upper arm and led him to the back of the truck while saying "come back here." Trooper Taylor said this was for safety reasons because the two were too close to cars speeding by on the highway. R 1 at 183, ¶ 13.

More precisely, the DVD reflects that the Trooper had to ask Shepack twice to step out of his truck, had to tell him three times to step to the rear of his truck, and had to grab Shepack by his arm to escort him to the rear of his truck. R 3 at 5 (Shepack trial Exhibit 4 (DVD at 6:10 to 6:47)). As noted, after the Trooper brought Shepack over to the back of his truck, there is a point at which Shepack stumbles and appears to almost fall over backwards. R 3 at 5 (Shepack trial Exhibit 4 (DVD at 6:50)).

Trooper Taylor told Shepack he could either follow directions or go straight to jail. Shepack responded that he would go to jail. R 1 at 184, ¶ 14; R 3 at 5 (Shepack trial Exhibit 4 (DVD at 6:52)). Trooper Taylor put Shepack's hands behind his back and placed him in handcuffs. Shepack allowed his right hand to be cuffed but grasped the tailgate with his left hand, requiring Trooper Taylor to pull his left hand away to be cuffed. Trooper Taylor testified that Shepack did not resist arrest. Trooper Taylor placed Shepack in the back of his patrol car. R 1 at 183, ¶ 15. Although testifying that Shepack was not resisting arrest, the Trooper also testified that Shepack did not comply with a lawful police order to come to the rear of his truck, and that Shepack was resistive and combative. R 2 at 66, 68, 101.

Trooper Taylor *testified* that at that point he placed Shepack under arrest on suspicion of driving under the influence. R 1 at 183, ¶ 16. Trooper Taylor went back to search the cab of the truck. He found packaged meat from a Lawrence grocery store that was cold to the touch. R 1 at 183, ¶ 18. The Trooper thought it odd that Shepack would have fish, still cold, if he was coming from Wichita as he claimed. R 2 at 73, 77.

Trooper Taylor came back to the patrol car. He told Shepack he was going to ask him to submit to a preliminary breath test ("PBT") and some field sobriety tests ("FSTs"). Shepack said he was not going to do anything. R 1 at 184, ¶ 19; R 3 at 5 (Shepack trial Exhibit 4 (DVD at 11:24)). (Shepack agrees that he refused. R 2 at 151-52.) Shepack understood exactly what the Trooper was asking him for when he asked for field sobriety tests and a preliminary breath test. R 2 at 116, 150-51, 152.

*The DVD reflects that, after Shepack told the Trooper that he would not take field sobriety tests or a preliminary breath test, the Trooper told him he was under arrest for DUI. R 3 at 5 (Shepack trial Exhibit 4 (DVD at 11:44)); see also R 2 at 148 (Shepack agrees).*

#### **IV. ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES**

##### **A. the district court erred in determining that the Trooper needed to have reasonable grounds to believe that Shepack was operating a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or drugs *at the point at which he was cuffed***

The district court erred in determining that the Trooper needed to have reasonable grounds to believe that Shepack was operating a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or drugs at the point *at which he was cuffed*.

##### **i. standard of review**

The level of "reasonable grounds" required to request a test under the Kansas Implied Consent law, is a question of law. "An appellate court's review of a question of law is unlimited." *Foulk v. Colonial Terrace*, 20 Kan. App. 2d 277, Syl. ¶ 1, 887 P.2d 140 (1994), *rev. denied* 257 Kan. 1091 (1995).

**ii. KDR raised this issue below**

KDR raised the issue at all times that the officer needed to have reasonable grounds to request Shepack to submit to testing. *E.g.*, R 1 at 85-92 (KDR’s Trial Brief at 9-16) (including argument that Shepack refused to submit to field sobriety testing and to a PBT, *both of which occurred after he was cuffed*); R 2 at 194-96 (KDR argued that Shepack was arrested for DUI after request was made for PBT and field sobriety tests, and that arrest prior to that was for failing to obey lawful police order).

That said, it was not clear that the district court was going to misapply the law by holding that reasonable grounds was cut off at the point that Shepack was cuffed, *see Nutt v. Knutson*, 245 Kan. 162, 164, 776 P.2d 475 (1989) (“[a] party is not required ... to raise arguments at trial in anticipation of a court's misinterpretation of the law”), but KDR made clear to the district court that reasonable grounds is not cut off at that point, but rather at the point at which the test is requested. R 1 at 211-12 (KDR’s Motion to Alter or Amend at 18-19).

**iii. Arguments**

Kansas law requires that an officer have reasonable grounds to believe that the person to be tested was or had been operating a vehicle while under the influence *at the point at which the test is requested*, not at any other time, including at the point of arrest. K.S.A. 8-1001(b). The district court erred in so holding. R 1 at 11 (last paragraph) (Mem. Dec.) (“Under the totality of the circumstances present at the time of Shepack's arrest, the Court concludes that there was not probable cause to arrest him for driving under the influence.”).

KDR understands that the Court in *Sloop v. Kansas Dep't of Revenue*, 296 Kan. 13, 290 P.3d 555 (2012), held to the contrary in 2013 following then K.S.A. 8-1001(b). In *Sloop*, the Court noted that this provision read as follows:

(b) A law enforcement officer shall request a person to submit to a test or tests deemed consented to under subsection (a): (1) if [First] *the officer has reasonable grounds to believe* the person was operating or attempting to operate a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or drugs, or both ... and [Second] one of the following conditions exists: (A) *The person has been arrested* or otherwise taken into custody for any offense involving operation or attempted operation of a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or drugs, or both, ... in violation of a state statute or a city ordinance.

*Sloop*, 296 Kan. at 17 (emphasis in original). That provision was changed in 2013, however, after *Sloop* and now reads:

A law enforcement officer shall request a person to submit to a test or tests deemed consented to under subsection (a): (1) *If, at the time of the request, the officer has reasonable grounds to believe* the person was operating or attempting to operate a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or drugs, or both, or to believe that the person was driving a commercial motor vehicle, as defined in K.S.A. 8-2,128, and amendments thereto, while having alcohol or other drugs in such person's system, or was under the age of 21 years and was operating or attempting to operate a vehicle while having alcohol or other drugs in such person's system; and one of the following conditions exists: (A) The person has been arrested or otherwise taken into custody for any violation of any state statute, county resolution or city ordinance; or (B) the person has been involved in a vehicle accident or collision resulting in property damage or personal injury other than serious injury ....

K.S.A. 8-1001(b) (in pertinent part) (emphasis added).

This Court in *State v. Wagner*, No. 112,730, 2015 WL 6620621, at \*6 (Kan. Ct. App. Oct. 30, 2015) (copy attached hereto as Exhibit B), agreed: “In response to *Sloop*,

the legislature amended K.S.A. 8–1001(b)(1)(A) to provide in pertinent part . . .,” and this Court then cited the language from the amended version set out above.

As such, the district court here erred in holding that the Trooper’s reasonable grounds were cut off at the point at which he cuffed Shepack. This was error prejudicial to KDR. Because the district court so ruled, it erroneously failed to consider the additional evidence that Shepack refused to submit to a PBT and to field sobriety tests, facts the existence of which the Court expressly found. R 1 at 184 (Memorandum Decision and Order at 4, ¶ 19) (“Trooper Taylor came back to the patrol car. He told Shepack he was going to ask him to submit to a preliminary breath test ("PBT") and some field sobriety tests ("FSTs"). Shepack said he was not going to do anything.”). It bears noting that long-time prosecutor Shepack knew exactly what he was being asked to do. R 2 at 116, 150-51, 152.

This evidence was relevant. Circumstantial evidence of the commission of a crime, such as DUI, is admissible and as probative as direct evidence. *See, e.g., State v. Humbolt*, 1 Kan. App. 2d 137, 140, 562 P.2d 123 (1977) (flight from scene of crime, “[a]s evidencing defendant's consciousness of guilt these were proper matters for the jury's consideration . . .”).

Refusal to submit to field sobriety tests is relevant and admissible to show consciousness of guilt, *State v. Rubick*, 16 Kan. App. 2d 585, 827 P.2d 771 (1992); as is a refusal to submit to a preliminary breath test, *Sjoberg v. Kansas Dep't of Revenue*, No. 103,937, 2012 WL 3966511, at \*5 (Kan. Ct. App. Sept. 25, 2012), *rev. denied* (2013)

(copy attached hereto as Exhibit C) (PBT refusal admissible on question of officer's reasonable grounds).

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