NO. 117,508

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

JOSEPH R. SHEPACK, Plaintiff-Appellee,

V.

KANSAS DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, Defendant-Appellant.

# BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the District Court of Shawnee County Honorable Teresa L. Watson, District Court Judge, District Court Case No. 15-C-121

> Douglas E. Wells, #10281 5891 SW 29th Street Topeka, Kansas 66614-2486 785-273-1141 B 785-273-1383 Fax doug@kansasdui.com

> > Attorney for Appellee

ORAL ARGUMENT: 20 MINUTES

#

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

McNeely dealt with an officer that was determined to be uneducated in the law. The facts in the Shepack case are different. Trooper Taylor was a veteran of 13 years with the Highway Patrol, including 10 years of experience in traffic enforcement, who had advanced to the rank of Master Sargent following advanced training. On page 32 of brief of appellate, Defendant alleges that an experienced law enforcement officer is permitted to make inferences and deductions that may clude an untrained person. Taylor was experienced by agreement and he made inferences, deductions, and conclusions that the basis for the arrest was DUI only. While the factual and legal basis for even the conclusion that there was probable cause to arrest for DUI was properly found to be unacceptable to the district court, it is incontrovertible that the reason for the arrest was DUI only.

In McNeely, the defendant was fleeing the officer who was signaling for McNeely to stop. The officer observed objects being thrown from the car, which justified the arrest

of McNeely. On the day of the incident, after discovering the contents of the bag that was thrown from the car after the initial arrest for littering, the arresting officer changed the charges to illegal possession of burglary tools.

In Shepack, unlike <u>McNeely</u>, the arresting officer did not change the charges for arrest. Taylor continuously asserted that the arrest was for the charge of DUI on the date of the incident and throughout the litigation. Taylor continuously asserted that the arrest was not for any other offense. In <u>McNeely</u>, the officer's immediate investigation disclosed a new charge other than that for which McNeely was arrested. Shepack was arrested and charged with DUI at all stages. <u>McNeely</u> has no application.

From the beginning through trial, there was no testimony to support any other ground for arrest other than for DUI. To the contrary, at trial Taylor testified that he did not arrest Shepack for failing to follow a lawful order or for resisting. There was no testimony from any other witness as to the grounds or basis for arrest. The arrest must be based upon facts proven at trial, not based on imagination, speculation, guess work, a Ouija board, or magic 8 ball. See Molitor, 301 Kan. at 263. Even though Taylor arrested Shepack for DUI, the district court properly ruled that the arrest for DUI was not supported by probable cause.

Next, in interpreting K.S.A. 8-1001(b), Defendant misinterprets the basis for district court decision and the structure of the statute. Again, the exclusive issue determined by the district court was whether the arrest was supported by probable cause. R. 1 at 187. The

District Court found it unnecessary to rule on the first portion of K.S.A. 8-1001(b), reasonable grounds to believe driving under the influence, ruling only on the second portion of this statute, the legality of the arrest. It is of importance that the first issue of reasonable grounds is separated by the word "and" before describing the second issue, either accident or arrest, in K.S.A. 8-1001(b). There was no accident, leaving only the issue of the legality of the arrest.

The timing of when a test may be requested applies only to the first part of K.S.A. 8-1001(b), not to the second part of the statute, whether probable cause to arrest occurs. Use of the words "at the time of the arrest" refer only to the issue of reasonable grounds to take a test. Probable cause to arrest is a distinct issue to reasonable grounds, as confirmed by the separate statutory sections of the implied consent statutes describing these allegations and issues. See K.S.A. 8-1002 (a)(1)(A) & (B), K.S.A. 8-1020(h)(1)(A) & (B). Furthermore, the issue of probable cause to arrest is a constitutional issue as well as a statutory issue. Simply stated, the constitution trumps a statute.

It is fundamental to American jurisprudence, that if a statute *conflicts* with the Constitution, the Constitution wins. This principle is taught to every first year law student.

"If then the courts are to regard the constitution; and the constitution is superior to any ordinary act of the legislature; the constitution, and not such ordinary act, must govern the case to which they both apply.

\* \* \* \*

Thus, the particular phraseology of the constitution of the United States confirms and strengthens the principle, supposed to be essential to all written

constitutions, that a law repugnant to the constitution is void, and that courts, as well as other departments, are bound by that instrument." <u>Marbury v. Madison</u>, 5 U.S. 137, 178, 180 (1803)."

Furthermore, the legislature may not supersede the Court's interpretations of the constitution, Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. 137 (1803), Dickerson v. United States, 530 U.S. 428, 120 S.Ct. 2326, 147 L.Ed.2d 405, (2000). A constitutional right and rule is superior to a statutory rule. Devine v. Groshong, 235 Kan. 127, 130, 679 P.2d 700 (1984).

The Kansas Court of Appeals reiterated the superiority of the Constitution over a statute in <u>State v. Declerck</u>, 49 Kan. App.2d 908, 916-17, 317 P.3d 794 (2014), as follows:

"However, the question on appeal is whether K.S.A. 2011 Supp. 8-1001 as enacted deprived DeClerck of her rights guaranteed by the United States and the Kansas Constitutions. See <u>Ybarra v. Illinois</u>, 444 U.S. 85, 96 n.11, 100 S. Ct. 338, 62 L. Ed. 2d 238 (1979) (legislature cannot abrogate a person's Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures, and United States Supreme Court will not hesitate to hold such statutes unconstitutional); <u>State v. Lambert</u>, 238 Kan. 444, 450, 710 P.2d 693 (1985)(legislature cannot enact a statute that effectively deprives individuals of rights guaranteed by the United States Constitution); <u>Martin v. Kansas Dept. of Revenue</u>, 36 Kan. App.2d 561, 566, 142 P.3d 735 (2006) (statute that defines rules in criminal, administrative, and civil cases cannot stand if statute infringes on constitutional rights), aff'd 285 Kan. 625, 176 P.3d 938 (2008)."

In making its ruling, the <u>Declerck</u> Court acknowledged that it was "acutely aware" of the terrible toll impaired drivers have on the highways, but that "constitutional protections have costs." 49 Kan. App. 2d at 919.

In <u>Declerck</u>, the Court ruled that K.S.A. 8-1001(b) is unconstitutional in violation of the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution to the extent that the State

argued that probable cause to believe that a traffic infraction occurred is required rather than probable cause to believe a person is DUI. The same analysis would apply to the argument of Defendant that a test is deemed consented to if a person is arrested or otherwise taken in to custody for a violation of a non-DUI statute or ordinance. This analysis would also be unconstitutional. A lawful arrest based on probable cause for DUI must precede the request for a breath test before the issue of reasonable grounds to request the breath test can be addressed under K.S.A. 8-1001(b), even assuming that the issue of reasonable grounds is properly before this court.

There was no probable cause to arrest for DUI and there is no factual or legal basis to arrest for any other offense for reasons previously articulated. The change in K.S.A. 8-1001(b) in no way affects the requirement that an arrest be constitutionally legal at the time of the arrest. Since the arrest was an unconstitutional seizure without probable cause, even if K.S.A. 8-1001(b) statutory changes are relevant and properly before this court, they are relevant only to statutory interpretations which are inferior to constitutional requirements. Defendant's arguments for relief based on K.S.A. 8-1001(b) are deficient.

# d. Analysis of the facts.

Shepack was driving slower than the posted speed limit. Shepack admits that he weaved and that the stop of his vehicle by Trooper Taylor was proper based upon that driving. There was no accident. Shepack properly parked his vehicle on the shoulder in response to the trooper's signal to stop.

Defendant's argument that this manner of driving was sufficient to establish probable cause to arrest for DUI is without merit. This analysis would mandate that every driver driving a vehicle left of center would be legally arrested for DUI. This defies common sense. Why would the legislature establish a separate infraction of left of center if those same actions constitute the basis for a DUI arrest? Driving left of center constitutes a basis for a stop, which requires a lesser burden of proof than probable cause for arrest for DUI, as articulated in the preceding section. Furthermore, driving outside the lane may result from other causes than DUI, such as fatigue, health problems, answering a phone or changing a radio station. Driving outside a lane, while remaining on the highway and not suddenly stopping, should not result in a per se DUI arrest justification as alleged by Defendant.

Shepack properly exited his vehicle, exiting cautiously so that he would not hit the trooper with the door. When exiting his truck, the toll ticket fell to the ground, whereupon Shepack had no difficulty bending over and picking up the toll ticket. Shepack had no difficulty standing or walking. He did not lean on his vehicle. His speech was not slurred and he had no difficulty communicating.

There were no open containers of alcohol. There were only closed containers in the bed of the truck. Shepack did not dispute that his eyes were blood shot, watery, glazed and droopy, explaining that the condition of his eyes was caused by fatigue at the end of a long day. The trooper acknowledged that this eye condition could be caused by many things

other than alcohol consumption.

Upon exiting the truck, Shepack was asked to go to the rear of the truck. He was then asked to remove his hands from his pockets, with Shepack complying. Shepack then asked what the trooper wanted him to do, at which point the trooper grabbed Shepack's upper arm and led him to the back of the truck. Shepack did not believe he was given enough time to respond to the officer's request. At this time, it was Shepack's perception that the officer had made a decision to arrest him.

At the back of the truck, Shepack was then immediately handcuffed and placed under arrest. Less than two minutes had clapsed between the time the trooper arrived at Shepack's door until Trooper Taylor arrested and handcuffed Shepack. Taylor testified that he did not intend to release Shepack from the DUI arrest when he handcuffed him. The trooper testified that the basis for the arrest was DUI, not any other charge of resisting, failure to follow a lawful order or interference. Shepack did not intend to resist.

Taylor completed a DC-27 form, wherein on line 7, the trooper did not mark the potential clues of having alcoholic beverage containers, failing field sobriety tests, slurred speech, difficulty in communicating, admission of consumption, odor, or failing a preliminary breath test (PBT). Taylor later testified that he did smell an odor in spite of the inconsistent omission on the DC-27 form.

Prior to the arrest and handcuffing of Shepack for DUI, there was no admission of consumption. No field sobriety tests were identified by name or requested. The PBT was

not requested. Discrepancies of Shepack's description of his route of traffic were unknown to the trooper. Shepack had not admitted to drinking pre-arrest. These events occurred after the arrest, therefore they could not form a factual basis for arrest.

Based on these facts, there was no probable cause to arrest Shepack for DUI or any other crime. The district court was correct in its ruling. The judgment of the district court should be affirmed.

# II. The issue of reasonable grounds to believe Shepack was under the influence is not properly before the Court of Appeals because this issue was not determined by the district court.

### a. Standard of Review.

The Kansas Supreme Court defined the standard of review in <u>Flores Rentals</u>.

<u>L.L.C. v. Flores</u>, 283 Kan. 476, 153 P.3d 523 (2007) as follows:

"Whether jurisdiction exists is a question of law over which this court has unlimited review. Mid-Continent Specialists, Inc. v. Capital Homes, 279 Kan. 178, 185, 106 P.3d 483 (2005). Exercising this review, an appellate court has a duty to dismiss an appeal when the record discloses a lack of jurisdiction. Max Rieke & Bros., Inc. v. Van Deurzen & Assocs., 34 Kan. App.2d 340, 342-43, 118 P.3d 704 (2005)." 283 Kan. at 480.

# b. The issue was raised below but not ruled on by the district court.

The issue of reasonable grounds to believe Shepack was under the influence was continuously raised by the parties, including in the petition, R. 13, Trial Memoranda of Plaintiff R. 1 at 63-65, and continuously at the trial, including R. 2 at 9-16, 97-98, 108-116, 189-91, R. 3, Plaintiff's exhibit 4, R. 4, Plaintiff's exhibit 2, line 7. The district court chose,

however, not to rule on the issue of reasonable grounds, ruling only on the issue of whether the arrest was lawful. R. 1 at 187.

#### c. Analysis.

In Flores Rentals, L.L.C. v. Flores, supra, the Court further ruled that:

"Appellate jurisdiction is defined by statute; the right to appeal is neither a vested nor constitutional right. The only reference in the Kansas Constitution to appellate jurisdiction iterates this principle, stating the Kansas Supreme Court shall have "such appellate

jurisdiction as may be provided by law." Kansas Constitution, Article 3, § 3. The Constitution is silent regarding the Court of Appeals, which is not a constitutional court but rather was statutorily created. In creating the Court of Appeals, the legislature limited its jurisdiction, defining the circumstances under which there is jurisdiction to hear an appeal. As a result, Kansas appellate courts may exercise jurisdiction only under circumstances allowed by statute; the appellate courts do not have discretionary power to entertain appeals from all district court orders. See Meddles v. Western Power Div. of Central Tel. & Utilities Corp., 219 Kan. 331, 333, 548 P.2d 476 (1976); Henderson v. Hassur, 1 Kan. App. 2d 103, 105-06, 562 P.2d 108 (1977)." 283 Kan. at 480-81

The appeal in a civil case is entirely statutory, with the appellate court having no authority to create an exception to statutory requirements. Wiechman v. Huddleston, 304 Kan. 80, 370 P.3d 1194 (2016). K.S.A. 60-2102 defines the jurisdiction of the Court of Appeals. This statute does not grant jurisdiction to hear an issue not determined by the district court when issue was not ruled on because another issue was dispositive.

The district court ruled on the issue of the arrest only, stating that "Only one argument will be discussed here because it is dispositive of the appeal." R. 1 at 187. Determinations of issues may be unnecessary in consideration of other findings of the court. Schaefer & Associations v. Schrimer, 3 Kan. App.2d 114, 117, 590 P.2d 1087

(1979). Since the legality of the arrest was the only issue that was decided by the district court and since this issue was dispositive, the district court did not rule on whether there were reasonable grounds to believe that Shepack was under the influence of alcohol or drugs. The Court of Appeals should not follow the lead of Defendant in determining an issue not ruled on by the district court. The Court of Appeals lacks jurisdiction to determine an issue not determined by the district court.

Statutorily, the reasonable grounds issue is separately defined in K.S.A. 8-1002(a)(1)(A) in an alleged refusal case, whereas the legality of the arrest is separately defined in K.S.A. 8-1002(a)(1)(B). The issue of reasonable grounds is also separately preserved in K.S.A. 8-1020(h)(1)(A), whereas the issue of arrest is separately preserved in K.S.A. 8-1020(h)(1)(B). Because these are separate allegations and issues of a legal arrest and reasonable grounds, the Court of Appeals should not review the issue of reasonable grounds that was not ruled on be the district court.

Having said this, in an abundance of caution in case this court decides to rule on this issue, the factual and legal analysis described in issue 1 in the Brief of Appellee is incorporated herein in support of Plaintiff's argument that the grounds were not reasonable to believe that Shepack was under the influence.

#### Conclusion.

Based upon these facts known to Taylor, there was no probable cause to arrest for DUI. There was no legal or factual basis to arrest for resisting, interference, or failure to

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